SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL EARL DOBBINS,

CASE NO.: 80,580

Petitioner,

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT NO.: 91-1953

٧.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jeffrey L. Jees, P.A., of DUNN, APRAHAM, SWAIN & DEES 347 Spath Ridgewood Avenue Post Office Drawer 2600 Daytona Beach, Florida 32115-2600

(904) 258-1222

Florida Bar No. 167906 Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a criminal conviction under Florida's recently enacted "hate crime" law, F.S. 775.085 (1989), in the Circuit Court of Volusia County, Florida, Honorable Shawn Briese presiding.

The Fourth Amended Information filed by the State on May 30, 1991, charged the Appellant in Count I with Battery in violation of F.S. 784.03(1)(a) and F.S. 775.085. (R.524) Specifically, the Appellant was charged with committing a battery by hitting or kicking the victim John Daly, and during the commission of the battery, evidencing prejudice based on Daly's ancestry, ethnicity, religion or national origin. The effect of the allegation of prejudice under F.S. 775.085 was to elevate the degree of the offense from a first degree misdemeanor to a third degree felony. In Count II, the Appellant was charged with Accessory After the Fact. (Id.)

The Appellant challenged the constitutionality of F.S. 775.085 under the First Amendment in a Motion to Dismiss (R.527) and at a hearing held thereon before the Court prior to trial. (R.5-28) At the conclusion of the trial, the Judge ruled that the Statute was constitutional and denied the Motion to Dismiss. (R.500)

The case was tried before a jury June 18 through 21, 1991. When the State rested, the Court directed a judgment of acquittal as to Count II (Accessory After the Fact). (R.285-407) At the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged under Count I (Battery). (R.533)

The Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial on July 3, 1991, which was denied without hearing by the Court. (R.534,536)

The Court sentenced the Appellant on August 26, 1991, adjudicating him guilty of the felony battery and imposing 364 days incarceration in the Volusia County Jail, followed by four (4) years probation. (R.538-541)

Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on September 4, 1991 (R.542), and on September 24, 1992, the Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion finding Florida's Hate Crime Law to be constitutional under the First Amendment and affirming the Appellant's conviction.¹

On December 23, 1992, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

¹See Appendix A for a certified copy of the Fifth District's opinion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This incident occurred on October 7, 1990, at a party in Daytona Beach. Three (3) groups were involved: the Appellant Mike Dobbins, and certain of his acquaintances from Orlando, namely, Robert Huttner, Terry Lewis, Richard Meyers and his girlfriend, were one group at the party (R.306,308,338,417); the second group comprised the victim, John Daly, and certain of his acquaintances from Ocala, namely, Chris Doyle, John Kahlkopf and Heather Arnold (R.80,91); and the third group involved Fran Mercuri from Daytona Beach, who hosted the party (R.248,343)

All of them in varying degrees were or had been members of certain teen groups loosely known as "Skinheads", which generally are "white power" groups. (R.78-85,340) The members wear extremely short crewcut hair, military boots, suspenders, and sometimes other gear. For example, the victim Daly wore what was known as a Hitler T-shirt, i.e., a T-shirt with a picture of Adolph Hitler on the front formed by means of hundreds of tiny skulls. (R.109,120,242,261,426)

By October, 1990, Mike Dobbins was no longer much interested or very active with the Skinheads. (R.414-415) Following his graduation from high school in the Spring, he had signed up to join the Marine Corps and was waiting orders to report to camp. (Id.) By contrast, certain others, e.g., Meyers, Huttner, Mercuri, and Heather Arnold, were among the most serious members, not only being skinheads but also members of larger, nationally organized groups such as White Aryan Resistance (W.A.R.), Aryan Youth Force (A.Y.F.), The American Front, and other organizations. (R.86-87)

The victim, John Daly was not only a Skinhead in the Ocala group but was also a member of the national organization known as The American Front, and had been appointed the chapter leader for Ocala and assigned to recruit new members.

(R.85,117-121,132) His close friends, Chris Doyle and John Kahlkopf (who testified for the State) testified that Daly took his membership quite seriously. (R.232-233)

Daly also testified that he was Jewish. (R.71-73) But no one in his group in Ocala, e.g., Doyle and Kahlkopf, thought that he was Jewish. (R.89,126-127,264) In fact, they testified that Daly was not and had often made anti-Jewish statements. (R.126-127)

Dobbins had never met Daly prior to the evening of the party on October 7 and knew nothing about him (other than one telephone call many months earlier when Daly inquired how to join the Skinheads). (R.94,415,426)

On October 7, 1990, Mercuri invited Meyers and some of the others to a party at his new apartment near the beach in Daytona Beach. Meyers invited Dobbins and Lewis to go with him to the party. (R.416-417) John Daly went with his friends from Ocala. (R.91)

At the party there was a large quantity of beer. Dobbins and Daly drank only a little, but others, particularly Meyers and Huttner, drank excessive amounts of beer and became highly intoxicated. (R.236,310,346,436)

During the party, Dobbins briefly walked into a room where some of the persons were engaged in a discussion about hurting Daly. (R.346-348,422) Dobbins did not join in the talk at all and told them that it was a "stupid" idea. (R.352-422) The apparent reason for the talk was that Meyers and Huttner were angry that Daly was supposed to burn a tatoo off the neck of his friend, Heather Arnold. (R.145,147,237238,265,350,374-376,424,444) Dobbins walked out and did not participate in any discussion of the matter. (R.349,351,370,422) This was corroborated by the State's witness, Terry Lewis. (R.349-352)

Later the group decided to go to the beach to go swimming. (R.428) By that time Appellant had learned that Lewis might fight Daly one on one or that nothing

was going to happen (to Daly). (R.227,239,267,370,423,427) Fights among members and excessive drinking are not uncommon among some of the Skinheads at their parties. (R.133,367-368,418-419)

At the beach, as the group walked toward the water, Huttner suddenly turned and said to Terry Lewis, "Now," and Lewis punched Daly. The rest of the group then started to hit Daly. At this point, Dobbins also threw a punch at Daly. (R.431-432,445) Daly fell to the sand and covered his head with his arms as some in the group kicked him. Daly testified that Dobbins said "Jew boy" and kicked him. (R.102,105) Dobbins denied this during his testimony. (R.433) The State's witness, Terry Lewis, also contradicted Daly and testified that it was in fact not Dobbins but Huttner who said Jew boy (or "Die Jew die"). (R.358) And Huttner, also testifying for the State, as much as admitted this. (R.316,327) (See also, Kahlkopf testimony, R.268) Nothing else was said during the entire incident by anyone else. (R.359,434) Daly testified that he was not sure - and could not swear - that the incident was motivated because he was Jewish. (R.155-156)

After Dobbins hit Daly, he dropped out of the fight. (R.256,319,357,432) Thereafter, however, the fight suddenly became more serious than any Dobbins had seen at other parties. Huttner and Meyers (the ones most upset about Daly earlier at the party) dragged Daly into the surf and held him under water. (R.103,106,321) Dobbins tried to stop them. (R.327,435-436) He went to them and tried to pull Huttner off Daly. (Id.)

At this point, the Beach Rangers came by and the group disbursed. To the Beach Rangers, it appeared to be a group of teenagers horsing around in the water. (R.274-275) After the Rangers left, Huttner and Meyers apparently resumed their attack on Daly. However, Dobbins was not present and did not see this.

Everyone except Daly returned to Mercuri's apartment. (R.440) Daly met with the Rangers shortly thereafter when they passed by a second time, but he did not report any crimes or wrongdoing. (R.276-278,286-287) The Beach Rangers observed some bruises and a small cut on Daly's face, but nothing more serious. (Id.) They offered Daly medical attention anyway, but he refused it. (R.108,112,159-161) Daly walked to his car, drove home to Ocala and went to bed. (Id.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT ONE</u>: Florida Statute 775.085 is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad because (1) it provides no objective standards to warn the public as to what kinds of conduct, speech, thought or opinion will incur the enhanced criminal penalties provided by the statute; (2) it fails to require mens rea, i.e., the statute fails to require that the alleged prejudice be linked as motive or intent in the commission of the underlying crime or that the defendant charged personally and knowingly evidence the alleged prejudice; and (3) the statute fails to provide standards to guide police and prosecutors and lends itself to arbitrary enforcement.

The Statute is also unconstitutional because it is susceptible of application to constitutionally protected speech or beliefs.

<u>POINT TWO</u>: The principle issue at trial was not whether the Appellant committed a battery, but whether he did so with religious or ethnic prejudice against the victim Daly. The Information specifically alleged the Appellant "did evidence" such prejudice during the commission of the battery. (R.524)

However, the Court refused to so instruct the jury. Instead, the instruction given by the Court (over objection) permitted the Appellant to be convicted solely upon prejudice evidenced by others (or no one) without any finding that the Appellant knowingly aided and abetted this prejudice.

<u>POINT THREE</u>: The victim could not testify that religious prejudice was the motive for the commission of this crime. The Appellant denied such prejudice. No other witness testified that the battery was committed because of religious prejudice or that the <u>Appellant</u> said or did anything whatsoever to exhibit religious prejudice against the victim. Viewed in the light most favorable to the State, there is an absence of substantial, competent evidence that the Appellant evidenced religious

prejudice during the commission of the battery so as to justify imposition of the enhanced penalties of F.S. 775.085.

POINT ONE:

F.S. 775.085 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT IS VAGUE, OVERBROAD AND IMPOSES CRIMINAL PUNISHMENT UPON PROTECTED SPEECH.

Appellant submits that Section 775.085 Florida Statutes (1989) (the "Statute") is unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and also under Section 4, Article I of the Florida Constitution because it is vague, overbroad and imposes criminal punishment upon protected speech.

The Statute reads as follows:

The penalty for any felony or misdemeanor shall be reclassified as provided in this subsection if the commission of such felony or misdemeanor evidences prejudice based on the race, color, ancestry, ethnicity, religion or national origin of the victim.

* * *

A misdemeanor of the first degree shall be punishable as if it were a felony of the third degree.

a. Vagueness and Overbreadth.

Any criminal statute which, due to vagueness and overbreadth, is susceptible of application to protected speech is facially unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendments. <u>Lewis v. City of New Orleans</u>, 425 U.S. 130, 94 S.Ct. 970, 39 L.Ed.2d (1974). An appellant is accorded standing to challenge such laws even where the specific language the appellant used might have been punishable under a properly limited ordinance. <u>Id.</u>, 39 L.Ed.2d at 219.

Appellant submits that the Statute is inherently vague and overbroad. Section 775.085 layers on additional punishment if the commission of a crime evidences "prejudice based on race, color, ancestry, ethnicity, religion or national origin of the victim". What constitutes "prejudice" under the Statute is not defined.

No objective standards warn the public as to what kinds of conduct, speech, thought or opinion regarding a victim's race, color, ancestry, ethnicity, religion or national origin would constitute "prejudice" and thus incur enhanced criminal punishment. No objective standards guide the police, prosecutors or triers of fact.

Statutes employing similarly vague standards to impose criminal penalties upon citizens has been struck down when possibly imposing on First Amendment protections. Thus, in the Lewis case, supra, the Court reviewed an ordinance making it a crime for any person to "wantonly curse or revile or to use obscene or opprobrious language" toward a police officer in the performance of his duty. The Court held the words "opprobrious language" were unconstitutionally vague and were susceptible of application to protected speech. In Keyisham v. Board of Regents of New York, 385 U.S. 589, 87 S.Ct. 675, 17 L.Ed.2d 629 (1967), the Supreme Court held that statutes authorizing the firing of teachers for making "seditious" or "treasonous" utterances were unconstitutionally vague, because a teacher could not know the extent to which the utterance must transcend mere statement about abstract doctrine. The Court likewise held that statutes banning state employment of any person "advocating" forceful overthrow of the government were unconstitutionally vague as possibly prohibiting advocating the doctrine in the abstract.

Similarly, even though the Statute in question does not expressly state it regulates speech, nevertheless, because it criminalizes certain kinds of "prejudice" evidenced by the commission of a crime, it necessarily raises legitimate First Amendment concerns. First, the vagueness of Section 775.085 makes it possible that punishment will be arbitrarily imposed upon speech or opinion which is not criminal and which is constitutionally protected.

Allegations of prejudice under this statute could be charged in at least three (3) ways: (a) from direct speech, e.g., calling a victim a name, or shouting a slogan (i.e., the case at hand); (b) by alleged symbolic acts, e.g., burning a flag, destroying a draft card; painting a swastika; wearing a cross or political button; having a bumper sticker on your car; and, (c) perhaps most dangerously, from totally non-expressive acts alleged to evidence prejudice, e.g., committing a battery upon a black, a Jew, a white, or an Indian; defacing private property such as a church, an embassy, or the offices of the NAACP, Polish-American Society, etc.; damaging an Italian restaurant or the automobile of a foreign national; or participation in a public demonstration against the teachings of a church or the speeches of a public figure of color or ethnic origin during which a trespass or criminal mischief charge arises. In the case at hand, it is the Appellant's alleged spoken words "Jew boy" (combined with the victim's alleged Jewishness) that forms the basis for his conviction.

Importantly, the Statute fails to require that the alleged prejudice have any specified relationship to the commission of the crime, e.g., such as motive. Any evidence of prejudice toward the victim would be sufficient to invoke the Statute's penalties even if not a motivating factor in the commission of the underlying crime.

Thus, the Statute could be applied to the following cases:

(a) A white police officer stops and guestions a black defendant walking down a city street late at night on suspicion of loitering and prowling. The defendant refuses to give his name or any other information. The officer places the defendant under arrest for loitering and prowling, but the defendant physically struggles with the officer to prevent being handcuffed. During the struggle the defendant calls the officer a "white honky pig". The prosecutor charges the defendant with resisting an officer with violence and evidencing prejudice based on

race during the commission of the crime, elevating the offense to a second degree felony. An all-white jury convicts the defendant guilty as charged, and the Judge adjudicates the defendant guilty of the enhanced felony.

(b) A poor, single fifteen year-old girl becomes pregnant by her boyfriend. She is very upset and her parents do not know of the pregnancy. She decides to go to a local family clinic for counseling. The clinic also performs abortions. A "right to life" group from a local church is staging an anti-abortion protest on the sidewalk outside the clinic. As the girl approaches, a man wearing a cross and holding a sign saying "Abortion is murder" confronts the girl and tells her she'll go to Hell if she doesn't keep her baby. The girl calls the man a "religious bigot" and pushes him out of the way. The police are called and choose to arrest the girl for battery. The prosecutor files an information charging her with battery on the man and with evidencing religious prejudice during its commission, elevating the offense to a third degree felony. A jury convicts her as charged at trial, and the Court adjudicates her of a felony.

Either of these cases reveals the overbreadth of the Statute, because each of them qualify for prosecution on the grounds that "the commission of the felony or misdemeanor...evidences prejudice based on the race,...religion...of the victim."

The analysis of the Fifth District below on this point is not persuasive, i.e., that the commission of these crimes would not evidence prejudice. (Appendix A, pp. 3-4) The lower court glosses over the plain language of the statute and seems to employ some subjective (undefined) test that such crimes simply do not evidence prejudice within the meaning of the Statute. <u>Id</u>. First, this approach will lead to a morass of appellate review to decide when certain crimes do or do not evidence prejudice. A battery, for example, under certain circumstances

apparently would not evidence prejudice, but in other cases, might. Second, the lower court's reasoning that "the fact that racial prejudice may be exhibited during the commission of the crime is itself insufficient" (Id.) to sustain conviction is inconsistent and illogical. Clearly, any evidence of prejudice exhibited during the commission of any crime alleged to have violated the Statute will be admissible as evidence of the commission of the alleged hate crime. In fact, in the case at hand, it is the Appellant's own alleged religious slur (Jew boy) regarding the victim (combined with his alleged Jewishness) that is prominently relied upon by the lower court in affirming his conviction.

The Fifth District's final conclusion that, in the Appellant's case, the Statute is not vague because it required the jury to find that the victim was chosen "because he was Jewish" is clearly incorrect. The Statute only requires the jury to have concluded that the battery evidenced "prejudice" against Daly (the victim) because he was Jewish. There is no requirement in the Statute that the crime have been motivated by prejudice against the victim or that the victim was selected because of such prejudice, contrary to the assertion of the Fifth District.

The Courts have long recognized that the constitutionality of a vague statutory standard is closely related to whether that standard incorporates a requirement of mens rea. <u>Colautti v. Franklin</u>, 439 U.S. 379, 395, 99 S.Ct. 675, 58 L.Ed.2d 596, 609 (1979). In the <u>Colautti case</u>, the Court held that a Statute was unconstitutionally vague where it required, upon pain of penal sanctions for its violation, a physician performing an abortion to determine if a fetus "is viable or may be viable," particularly where criminal sanctions were authorized without proof of scienter.

The Statute does not require scientor, mens rea or motive. In fact, it nowhere even requires the defendant do some act which evidences personal

possession of such prejudice on his part. Instead, prejudice exhibited by a codefendant (or just circumstances) would be sufficient to subject other co-defendants to enhanced punishment without proof that each of them knowingly evidenced such prejudice or knew in advance that the co-defendant was so motivated and willingly aided and abetted the commission of the crime.

The Statute is also unconstitutionally vague because it provides no standards to guide police, prosecutors, juries or the courts as to what kind of conduct or speech evidences prejudice and is thus punishable. It has been held that a criminal statute may be void for vagueness not only when it fails to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is forbidden, but also when the statute is so indefinite that it encourages arbitrary and erratic arrests and convictions. Colautti v. Franklin, supra. In Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357-358, 103 S.Ct. 1055, 75 L.Ed.2d 903, 909-910 (1983), the Supreme Court has held that a Statute which lends itself to arbitrary enforcement can be void for vagueness even if it gives fair notice of what conduct it prohibits:

Although the doctrine focuses both on actual notice to citizens and arbitrary enforcement, we have recognized recently that the more important aspect of vagueness doctrine "is not actual notice, but the other principal element of the doctrine - the requirement that a legislature establish minimal guidelines to govern law enforcement." Smith, supra, 415 U.S. at 574, 94 S.Ct., at 1257-1248. Where the legislature fails to provide such minimal guidelines, a criminal statute may permit "a standardless sweep [that] allows policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections."

In <u>Kolender</u>, the Supreme Court found unconstitutionally vague a California Statute that failed to make clear what would constitute "creditable and

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