IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,580

MICHAEL EARL DOBBINS,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Florida Bar No. 0239437 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 P. O. Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court held the Statute to be facially constitutional. This was correct since this Statute is neither overbroad or vague.

The Statue does not attempt to regulate First Amendment conduct and therefore is not overbroad. In fact the First Amendment is not implicated, since the Statute created new substantive crimes. The substance of these new crimes is the legislative conclusion that <u>but for</u> an identified immutable characteristic of the victim, the entire criminal episode would not occurred. As such the Statute punishes criminal action and does not run afoul of the First Amendment.

The Statute is also not vague since it affords a person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited and has sufficient standards for its enforcement. What is prohibited is any felony or misdemeanor that is committed because the victim has one of several identified immutable characteristics, i.e. race, color, national origin, etc. This requires scienter on the Defendant's part. Since scienter is inferred as part of the Statute, any First Amendment vagueness problems which might otherwise exist are eliminated.

-12-

As to the other possible vagueness claims, the Statute survives the challenge. Although the underlying crimes are not listed in the Statute itself, effective notice is provided by the fact that the crimes are published in Florida Statutes. A review of the terms used in this Statute establishes that they are easily definable and have been so defined, albeit in other circumstances, and therefore are fully capable of being understood by ordinary persons of common intelligence. As such the statute is not constitutionally vague due to a lack of intent, insufficient guidance for law enforcement, or undefined terms.

The evidence also established that the Statute was constitutional as applied. It showed that but for the fact that the victim was Jewish, the Defendant would not have committed the battery at all.

The trial court correctly instructed the jury that a conviction could be obtained under the Statute where the Defendant was an aider and abettor. Furthermore, the issue was waived below, when the Defendant failed to provide the trial court with the instruction now requested.

The evidence adduced at trial well supports the jury verdict. The victim testified to racist statements made by Defendant during the battery, and other witnesses, including

-13-

Defendant, testified to the racial slurs yelled at the victim during the attack. Further, several witness/participants testified that the victim's "Jewishness" was "the" or "a" reason for the attack. Viewed in the light most favorable to upholding the verdict, there is substantial, competent evidence of Defendant's guilt.

ARGUMENT

I.

SECTION 775.085, FLA. STAT. (1989) IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD AND/OR VAGUE.

INTRODUCTION

This case involves a facial challenge² to Section 775.085(1), Fla. Stat. (1989), which provides:

(1) Evidencing prejudice while committing offenses;enhanced penalties. -

(1) The penalty for any felony or misdemeanor shall be reclassified as provided in this subsection if the commission of such felony or misdemeanor evidences prejudice based on race, color, ancestry, ethnicity, religion, or national origin of the victim:

(a) A misdemeanor of the second degree shall be punishable as if it were a felony of the third degree.

(b) A misdemeanor of the first degree shall be punishable as if it were felony of the third degree.

(c) A felony of the third degree shall be punishable as if it were a felony of the second degree.

² A "facial" challenge, in this context, means a claim that the law is "invalid in toto and therefore incapable of any valid application." <u>Steffel v. Thompson</u>, 415 U.S. 452, 474, 94 S.Ct. 1209, 39 L.Ed.2d 505 (1974).

(d) A felony of the second degree shall be punishable as if it were a felony of the first degree.

The trial court and the District Court correctly found the Statute to be constitutional. The grounds for this determination was that the Statute places the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt on the State that the reason for committing the crime was the fact that the victim was a member of a protected class. (R. 499-500).

The Statute regulates only nonprotected conduct. It does not criminalize the use of words, whether alone or in conjunction with conduct, unless words evidenced the prejudicial intent to commit the crime. If the State did attempt to punish pure expression, it would be unconstitutional, as the United States Supreme Court held in <u>R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul</u>, 120 L.Ed.2d 305 (1992).

The trial court having made a facial determination of constitutionality, the facts of this case are initially

(3) It shall be an essential element of this section that the record reflect that the defendant perceived, knew, or had reasonable grounds to know or perceive that the victim was within the class delineated herein.

³ The statute was amended in 1991 to include sexual orientation as a victim classification and to add an additional subsection (3):

irrelevant. The facial constitutionality of the Statute is presently before this Court in the consolidated cases of <u>State v</u>. <u>Stalder</u>, Case No. 79,924 and <u>State v</u>. <u>Leatherman</u>, Case No. 80,128, and in the case of <u>State v</u>. <u>Richards</u>, Case No. 80,863.

Several court have passed on the constitutionality of enhancement statutes, but the differences in the language of these statutes make conclusions therefrom difficult to draw. The Oregon statute has been upheld against free speech and vagueness attacks. <u>State v. Plowman</u>, 314 Or. 157, __ P.2d __ (1992), and <u>State v. Beebe</u>, 67 Or. App. 738, 680 P.2d 11, <u>appeal denied</u>, 297 Or. 459, 683 P.2d 1372 (1984); <u>State v. Hendrix</u>, 107 Or. App. 734, 813 P.2d 1115 (1991). So has the New York statute. <u>People</u> <u>v. Grupe</u>, 141 Misc. 2d 6, 532 N.Y.S.2d 815 (N.Y. Crim. Ct. 1988). The Ohio statute, which is very similar to the ADL model,⁴ has

⁴ Many of the enhancement statutes in effect in various states are modelled on a form of statute created by the Anti-Defamation League of B'Nai B'rith ("ADL"). The ADL model statute reads:

Intimidation

Α. A person commits the crime of intimidation if, by reason of the actual or perceived race, color, religion, national origin or sexual orientation of another individual group of or individuals, he violates Section of the Penal Code [insert code provision for criminal trespass, criminal mischief, harassment, menacing, assault and/or any other appropriate statutory proscribed criminal conduct].

B. Intimidation is a misdemenor/felony [the degree of criminal

been held unconstitutional in State v. Van Gundy, No. 90 AP-473, 1991 Ohio App. LEXIS 2066 (1991) and State v. May, No. 12239, 1991 Ohio App. LEXIS 2066 (1991) principally on grounds of vagueness of the terms "by reason of" and "race of another" (that is whether the term applies to the victim or another), neither of which terms occurs in Florida's Statute; however, the Ohio statute was held to be facially constitutional by another Ohio appellate court in State v. Wyant, No. 90-CA-2, 1990 Ohio App. LEXIS 5589 (1990). It is the State's understanding the issue is presently before the Ohio Supreme Court. The Michigan statute, which is substantially different than both the ADL model statute and Florida's Statute, has been held unconstitutional on both vagueness and free speech grounds in People v. Justice, No. 1-90-1793 (Mich. Dist. Ct. 1990). Again, the State understands that an appeal from the trial court's dismissal is pending. Finally, the day after the decision by the United States Supreme Court in R.A.V., the Wisconsin Supreme Court in a 5-2 decision, held that Wisconsin statute unconstitutional.⁵ State v. Mitchell, 169

> liability should be made continent upon the severity of the injury incurred or the property lost or damaged].

One commentator recently stated that "twenty two states have adopted laws resembling the ADL model intimidation statutue." Gellman, <u>Sticks and Stones Can Put You in Jail, But Can Words</u> <u>Increase Your Sentence? Constitutional Dilemmas of Ethnic</u> <u>Intimidation Laws</u>, 39 U.C.L.A. 333, 340 (1991). Florida's Statute is quite different in form from the ADL model statute.

⁵ This statute is similar to that of Florida.

At the time of Mitchell's crimes, sec. 9393.645, Stats. (1989-

-18-

Wisc. 2d 153, 485 N.W. 2d 807 (1992). Since the Wisconsin statute is similar to Florida's and the ruling on its

90), provided:

(1) If a person does all of the following, the penalties for the underlying crime are increased as provided in sub. (2):

(a) Commits a crime under chs. 939 to 948.

(b) Intentionally selects the person against whom the crime under par. (a) is committed or selects the property which is damaged or otherwise affected by the crime under par. (a) because of the race, religion, color, disability, sexual orientation, national origin or ancestry of that person or the owner or occupant of that property.

(2) (a) If the crime committed under sub. (1) is ordinarily a misdemeanor other than a Class A misdemeanor, the revised maximum fine is \$10,000 and the revised maximum period of imprisonment is one year in the county jail.

(b) If the crime committed under sub. (1) is ordinarily a Class A misdemeanor, the penalty increase under this section changes the status of the crime to a felony and the revised maximum fine is \$10,000 and the revised maximum period of imprisonment is 2 years.

(c) If the crime committed under sub. (1) is a felony, the maximum fine prescribed by law for the crime may be increased by not more than \$5,000 and the maximum period of imprisonment prescribed by law for the crime may be increased by not more than 5 years.

(3) This section provides for the enhancement of the penalties applicable for the underlying crime. The court

constitutionality is that presently before the United States Supreme Court, the State suggests that a ruling herein should await the outcome of Wisconsin v. Mitchell.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

State statutes are presumed to be constitutional, and every reasonable presumption must be drawn in favor of the validity of the statute. <u>Tal Mason v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 738 (Fla. 1987); <u>State v. Board of Education of Florida</u>, 467 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 1985); <u>Gardner v. Johnson</u>, 451 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1984); <u>Vanbibber v. Hartford Acc. & Indem. Ins. Co.</u>, 439 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 1983). Indeed, any reasonable doubt is deemed to support the constitutionality of the statute. <u>Bunnell v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1984). It is with these well established standards in mind that this Court must asses whether the trial judge and the District Court in the instant case correctly concluded that the Statue is constitutional.

-20-

shall direct that the trier of fact find a special verdict as to all of the issues specificied in sub. (1).

⁽⁴⁾ This section does not apply to any crime if proof of race, religion, color, disability, sexual orientation, national origin or ancestry is required for a conviction for that crime.

Appellate courts must give "substantial deference to the authority broad that legislatures necessarily possess in determining the types and limits of punishment for crimes." Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 290, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 77 L.Ed.2d 637 (1983). The statute's opponent must establish that it is invalid beyond, and to the exclusion of, every reasonable doubt. See State v. Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1981). See also New York State Club Assn., Inc. v. City of New York, 487 U.S. 1, 108 S.Ct. 2225, 101 L.Ed.2d 1 (1988). (Burden of showing statute to be unconstitutional is on the one challenging it, not the one defending it).

Ordinarily criminal statutes are to be strictly construed in favor of the accused. Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1991). However, they are not to be construed so strictly as to emasculate the statute and defeat the obvious intention of the Legislature. The rule of strict construction is subordinate to the rule that the intention of the Legislature must be given effect. This is so regardless of whether such construction varies from the statute's literal language. <u>Griffis v. State</u>, 356 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 1978); <u>Valdes v. State</u>, 443 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>State v. Nunez</u>, 368 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); <u>George v. State</u>, 203 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967).

To determine legislative intent this Court must consider the circumstances and documentation accompanying a law's

-21-

enactment, its evident purpose, the particular evil it seeks to remedy, and the fact that it seeks to protect a particular class or remedy a special problem. <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1967); <u>State v. Webb</u>, 398 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1981). When reasonably possible and consistent with legislative intent, this Court must give preference to a construction of a statute which will give effect to the statute over another construction which would defeat it. <u>Schultz v. State</u>, 361 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 1978).

An application of the foregoing principles of statutory construction should establish that the State's interpretation of the Statute must prevail. The Statute was enacted to remedy the acknowledged evil of bias motivated crimes. The remedy perceived by the Legislature was to more severely punish those individuals who commit crimes against a particular class of people only because those people belong to that particular class. Since the Legislature's intent was to protect individuals from bias motivated crimes, the State's construction of the Statute is eminently reasonable. This is so even though the construction varies from the Statute's literal language. The State's reasonable interpretation would save the Statute from constitutional infirmities and as such should prevail over Defendant's interpretation, regardless of its reasonableness.

-22-

OVERBREADTH

Overbreadth is a standing doctrine that permits parties in cases involving First Amendment challenges to government restrictions on noncommercial speech to argue that the regulation is invalid because of its effect on the First Amendment rights of others not present before the Court. <u>Broadrick v. Oklahoma</u>, 413 U.S. 601, 93 S.Ct. 2908, 37 L.Ed.2d 830 (1973). In a facial challenge to the overbreathness of a law, the Court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct. If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must fail. <u>Village of Hoffman</u> <u>Estates v. Flipside Hoffman Estates</u>, 455 U.S. 489, 494, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed.2d 362 (1982). The Statute, as hereinafter analyzed, does not apply to a substantial amount of protected conduct, and therefore the overbreadth challenge fails.

The Statute does not implicate the First Amendment⁶ because it does not seek to regulate words, expressions or thought. The Statute seeks to punish indisputable illegal activity that would not have been perpetrated <u>but for</u> the

-23-

⁶ The Defendant has also challenged the Statute under the State's Constitution freedom of speech clause, see Art. 1, Sec. 4 Florida Constitution. However, it will not be addressed separately herein since the scope of the State and Federal Constitutions' guarantees of freedom of speech are the same. Florida Canners Ass'n v. State, Dept. of Citrus, 371 So. 2d 503 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), affirmed, 406 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1981).

defendant's reasonable belief that the victim belonged to a class encompassed by the Statute. As such, the Statute creates a new substantive crime, which carries a more severe penalty than crimes which occur for reasons other than the defendant's state of mind towards a perceived immutable characteristic of his victim.⁷ The legislature appropriately determined that once it is shown beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed a particular act because the victim was a member of an enumerated class, the length of punishment should be more substantial than in other cases. This interpretation was applied by the trial court herein. (R. 499-500).

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